Deputy

# S221980 COPY

IN	THE	SUPREN	AE CO	URT (	F THE	STATE	OF CA	LIFORNIA
T T 4		DOLICEN		$\sigma r = 0$	<i>)</i>	SIAIL	OF CA	LICURINIA

No	
BARBARA LYNCH and THOMAS FRICK, Petitioners,	SUPREME COURT FILED
v.	OCT 2 0 2014
CALIFORNIA COASTAL COMMISSION, Respondent.	Frank A. McGuire Clerk

After an Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One (Case No. D064120)

On Appeal from the Superior Court of San Diego County (Case No. 37-2011-00058666-CU-WM-NC, Honorable Earl Maas III, Judge)

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. If a property owner has satisfied all the statutory requirements for challenging an unlawful permit condition, including exhausting administrative remedies and filing a timely and valid challenge to the condition in court, has the owner thereby preserved her right to judicial review of that challenge?
- Appeal in Ocean Harbor House Homeowners Association v. California Coastal Commission, 163 Cal. App. 4th 215, 242 (2008), mandates issuance of a permit for a protective device necessary to safeguard one's property against erosion, subject only to conditions that mitigate identified impacts on public resources that the structure causes. See Pub. Res. Code § 30235. In addition, the Federal unconstitutional-conditions doctrine requires that permit conditions burdening a property right or interest bear an "essential nexus" to—i.e., mitigate—identified impacts on public resources caused by the proposed use of the property (e.g., proposed protection of the property via installation of a protective device). See Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Management Dist., 133 S. Ct. 2586 (2013); Nollan v. California Coastal Commission, 483 U.S. 825, 837 (1987).

Do the Coastal Act and the Federal unconstitutional-conditions doctrine therefore prohibit a permitting agency from imposing conditions that are

designed, not to mitigate identified impacts of a protective device, but to expand regulatory authority for its own sake?

3. Does a property owner's statutory right to replace a structure destroyed by a disaster without a permit (Pub. Res. Code § 30610(g)) preempt local policies that purport to strip her of that right?

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioners Barbara Lynch and Thomas Frick (the "Homeowners") petition the Court for review of the published, 2-to-1 decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, overturning the San Diego Superior Court's judgment in their favor. The majority opinion drew a robust dissent by Justice Nares. This petition for review follows the Court of Appeal's denial of the Homeowners' petition for rehearing, from which Justice Nares also dissented.

## A. The Commission Imposes Conditions on the Homeowners' Seawall Permit

The Homeowners challenge two conditions imposed by Respondent California Coastal Commission on their permit to build a seawall necessary to protect their storm-battered homes against future disasters for the next 75 years. Dissenting Op. at 3. As the Commission admits, the state-of-the-art seawall "'has been designed and conditioned to mitigate its impact on coastal resources such as scenic quality, geologic concerns, and shoreline sand supply.' " *Id.* at 15 (quoting Commission). Nevertheless, one condition requires the seawall permit to expire in 20 years, after which the Homeowners

lose the right to the seawall or to any protection at all for their homes. As Justice Nares recognized in dissent, "the Commission has stated [that] the intent behind the expiration date is 'to allow for potential removal of the approved seawall.'" *Id.* at 15 (quoting Commission). In other words, the expiration date is not *mitigation* for the seawall's impacts, but a naked attempt by the Commission to preserve for itself all "future shoreline planning options" in the event of a "change [in] policy"—including "legislative change" and "judicial determinations"—that would permit the agency to deny Homeowners the right to protect their properties. *Id.* 

A second condition requires the Homeowners to forgo the right to replace the lower portion of their shared stairway down to the beach, which a series of severe storms destroyed in 2010. *Id.* at 7. The Coastal Act expressly preserves the right to replace disaster-destroyed structures, like the Homeowners' stairway, without a permit. But the Commission nevertheless relied on local policies of the City of Encinitas to ignore the Homeowners' statutory right, assert permit jurisdiction over the stairway, and deny its replacement. *Id.* at 21-24.

## B. The Homeowners Satisfy All the Legal Requirements for Preserving Their Challenge to the Permit Conditions

The Homeowners vigorously objected to the two conditions both before and at the Commission's hearing on their permit application. Dissenting Op. at 6-7. After the Commission approved the permit with the objected-to

conditions, the Homeowners filed and served a timely writ-of-mandate action against the Commission under section 1094.5 of the Civil Procedure Code, in the San Diego Superior Court. *Id.* at 7. The suit asks the court to strike down the conditions, on the grounds that they violate the Coastal Act and federal constitutional principles. *Id.* Having exhausted their administrative remedies and filed a timely section 1094.5 writ action, the Homeowners did *everything* the law requires to preserve a legal challenge to a permit decision. Pub. Res. Code § 30801 (setting forth statutory requirements for preserving challenge to permit decision).

Given the precarious state of their bluffs, and the likelihood of further storms and erosion of their properties in the near future, the Homeowners could not delay seawall installation pending the final outcome of their lawsuit. The Commission would not issue them a building permit to proceed with the seawall until they first recorded form deeds recognizing the existence of the seawall permit's conditions. Dissenting Op. at 7. The Homeowners never agreed to or complied with the challenged conditions—by deed or otherwise. In fact, as for the deeds, they expressly recognize the possibility of a successful legal challenge to permit conditions. *Id.* at 11 (quoting deed, which provides that "[i]f any provision of these restrictions is held to be invalid, or for any reason becomes unenforceable, no other provision shall be affected or impaired."). Once the Homeowners recorded their deeds—and with full

knowledge of an active suit challenging two permit conditions—the Commission issued the building permit allowing the Homeowners to install their much-needed seawall. *Id.* at 7. Again, the Homeowners proceeded with their seawall project under the most unequivocal form of protest possible: a pending lawsuit against the Commission challenging the legality of two of the permit's conditions.

It was not until over one year after the lawsuit was filed that the Commission demurred to the Homeowners' suit, claiming (to the Homeowners' surprise) that they had waived their right to challenge the two conditions by recording the deeds and building their seawall. *Id.* The San Diego Superior Court overruled the demurrer, finding that the Homeowners had "neither specifically agreed to the conditions nor failed to challenge their validity." *Id.* The Homeowners then moved successfully for judgment on the pleadings. The superior court held that the 20-year expiration date and the denial of the stairway replacement were both unlawful. *Id.* at 7-8. On the 20-year expiration date, the superior court further held that it "'is simply a *power grab* designed to obtain further concessions in 20 years, or force the removal of [the] seawall[] at a later time.'" *Id.* at 8-9 (quoting superior court ruling) (emphasis added).

## C. In a Divided Opinion, the Court of Appeal Reverses

In a published, 2-to-1 opinion, the Court of Appeal reversed the superior court decision. The majority concluded that the Homeowners had waived their right to challenge the permit conditions by recording the deeds and installing the seawall. Majority Op. at 5. The majority gave no weight to the superior court's factual finding that there was no waiver (as the law requires1), and all but ignored the factual context of the Homeowners' deed recordings and seawall installation. On the merits, the majority upheld the 20year expiration date on the seawall permit, reasoning that the Commission has broad discretion to impose any condition it wants on seawall permits. Id. at 15. The majority also upheld the Commission's denial of the stairway replacement, on the ground that local policies call for "the phasing out of private access to the beach." Id. at 18. This, despite the Coastal Act's express recognition of the right to replace any disaster-stricken structure without a permit. *Id.* at 18-19.

<sup>1 &</sup>quot;Whether a waiver has occurred is a factual question" for the superior court, whose determination is reviewed on appeal under the "deferential 'substantial evidence' standard." Savaglio v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 149 Cal. App. 4th 588, 598 (2007). Under that standard, the trial court's determination is "presumed to be correct," and the "appellate court will look only at the evidence supporting the prevailing party and will disregard the contrary showing; the evidence is not to be weighed by the appellate court." GHK Associates v. Mayer Group, Inc., 224 Cal. App. 3d 856, 872 (1990).

Justice Nares penned a vigorous 25-page dissent, in which he would have affirmed the superior court's judgment in favor of the Homeowners. On the waiver issue, Justice Nares (unlike the majority) focused on whether substantial evidence supported the superior court's "no waiver" finding. Dissenting Op. at 9 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). He concluded there was substantial evidence, explaining:

[T]he homeowners followed all the legal requirements for challenging the [permit] conditions, and put the Commission on notice of their objections and their intent to challenge them in court. There was nothing more that the Coastal Act, or any other provision of law, required of the homeowners in order to preserve their right to challenge the conditions.

Dissenting Op. at 10. In addition, he concluded that "simply acknowledging the permit restrictions [in deeds] is not the equivalent of agreeing to them," and that the Homeowners "have not taken any actions to abide by the conditions." *Id.* at 11. Consequently, there was no intent to waive.

On the merits, Justice Nares would have found the 20-year expiration date unlawful under both the Coastal Act and the federal unconstitutional-conditions doctrine. *Id.* at 14-21. While recognizing that section 30235 of the Coastal Act<sup>2</sup> allows the Commission to require mitigation for seawall impacts, Justice Nares concluded that the seawall *already* "has been designed and conditioned to mitigate its impact on coastal resources," and that "[t]he permit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Coastal Act is contained in the Public Resources Code; the two are cited interchangeably.

expiration does not mitigate any impacts the seawall may cause in the future[,]" but, "merely gives the Commission the option to deny the permit outright in 20 years"—the kind of condition that the Coastal Act precludes. *Id.* at 14-15 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted).

Justice Nares also would have found the expiration date in violation of the unconstitutional-conditions doctrine. In the Justice's view, the expiration-date condition unconstitutionally forced the Homeowners to waive fundamental constitutional rights and property interests, including the "inalienable" right of "protecting property" (Cal. Const. art. I, § 1), without any showing by the Commission that such a waiver mitigated identified negative impacts caused by the seawall. *See, e.g., id.* at 18-19. As Justice Nares observed, "[t]he Commission does not identify any adverse impacts attributable to the seawall that justify waiver of their constitutional and statutory rights." Dissenting Op. at 21.

Finally, Justice Nares would have struck down the Commission's denial of the stairway's replacement. Section 30610(g) of the Coastal Act provides that "no coastal development permit shall be required . . . for . . . [t]he replacement of any structure . . . destroyed by a disaster." According to the Justice, because the lower portion of the Homeowners' stairway was destroyed by disaster, its replacement was entitled to an exemption from the permit requirement—even if local policies could be interpreted to ban private

stairways. Dissenting Op. at 23 (citing section 30005(a) of the Coastal Act, which makes clear state law trumps local law).

## REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

The Court should review this case in order "to secure uniformity of decision" and to "settle . . . important question[s] of law." Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1). First, the Court of Appeal's majority opinion erects a new barrier for property owners who seek access to the courts to challenge unconstitutional or otherwise unlawful permit conditions. Even if the property owner does everything required of her under the law to preserve her right to challenge a permit condition, including never complying with the condition and filing a timely and valid action to challenge it, the opinion requires that she also forgo the permitted use of her property until after the courts have resolved that challenge—often a delay of several years.3 The majority's new rule creates confusion for property owners as to what criteria—beyond those set out in the law—they must satisfy to preserve a challenge to a permit condition. And the rule conflicts with the courts' well-established "waiver" jurisprudence, which strongly protects Californians' right to their day in court to have their otherwise timely and valid claims adjudicated on the merits. See, e.g., Savaglio, 149 Cal. App. 4th at 598; GHK Associates, 224 Cal. App. 3d at 872.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Homeowners in this case filed their challenge to the Commission's permit conditions in October 2012. Thus, this case is going into its third year of litigation.

Second, the majority opinion significantly erodes the right of individuals in 76 coastal cities and counties—along the State's 1,100-mile coastline—to protect their homes and businesses against the forces of Nature. The Coastal Act *mandates* that a protective device "shall be permitted when required . . . to protect existing structures . . . in danger of erosion and when designed to eliminate or mitigate adverse impacts on local shoreline sand supply." Pub. Res. Code § 30235. But the majority opinion ignores the statutory text and declares that the Commission has the power to impose *any condition whatsoever* on a seawall permit—even a condition, like the 20-year expiration date, which does nothing to eliminate or mitigate a seawall's alleged impacts. Majority Op. at 13.

In this case, the majority endorsed the Commission's unprecedented requirement that a permit for a seawall (with a life expectancy of 75 years) expire in just 20 years. As the dissent aptly explained, "the permit-expiration condition... is *not* a mitigation condition," especially since "the seawall 'has [already] been designed and conditioned to mitigate its impact on coastal resources.'" Dissenting Op. at 14-15 (emphasis added) (quoting Commission admission). Instead, the dissent observed, the expiration condition "merely gives the Commission the option to deny the permit outright in 20 years"—a regulatory power that the Commission does not enjoy today, but hopes to acquire in the near future through "legislative change" or "judicial"

determinations." *Id.* Conferring power on the Commission to impose non-mitigating conditions on the right to protect property does violence to the Coastal Act's "mandatory language" to the contrary. *Id.* at 15. The majority's opinion also conflicts with the Sixth District Court of Appeal's decision in *Ocean Harbor House* and the United States Supreme Court's unconstitutional-conditions cases, which hold that only conditions that *mitigate* for negative impacts caused by the property owner's use of her property are lawful.

Third, the majority opinion breaks with basic preemption principles by endorsing the view that local policies can trump state law. Here, the majority applied City of Encinitas policies to deprive Homeowners of the right to replace their staircase destroyed by a storm. Majority Op. at 18-19. The majority's opinion conflicts with the Act's express admonition against municipal attempts to impose stricter "conditions, restrictions, or limitations" that are "in conflict with [the] Act." Pub. Res. Code § 30005(a). And it conflicts with this Court's preemption jurisprudence. *Sherwin-Williams Co.* v. City of Los Angeles, 4 Cal. 4th 893, 897 (1993) (holding that local legislation that conflicts with state law is preempted by such law and is void).

Given the conflicts the majority's opinion creates with respect to questions of statutory and constitutional law that affect a vast number of

property owners—both in and outside the coastal zone<sup>4</sup>—this Court should grant the petition.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I

## REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO RESOLVE THE IMPORTANT QUESTION OF WHEN A PROPERTY OWNER WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE WAIVED HER RIGHT TO CHALLENGE PERMIT CONDITIONS

The majority opinion on waiver conflicts with the decisions of this Court and other Courts of Appeal. The legal framework for determining whether a party has waived a right is well-established. "To constitute a waiver, there must be an existing right, knowledge of the right, and an actual intention to relinquish the right." *Bickel v. City of Piedmont*, 16 Cal. 4th 1040, 1053 (1977). "Waiver always rests upon intent." *City of Ukiah v. Fones*, 64 Cal. 2d 104, 107 (1966). Moreover, whether a party has waived a right is "a question of fact." *Bickel*, 16 Cal. 4th at 1052. Accordingly, a superior court's finding on the waiver question is reviewed "under the deferential 'substantial evidence' standard," whereby "the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, giving it the benefit of every reasonable inference and resolving all conflicts in its favor in accordance with the standard of review so

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The first issue concerning property owners' right to challenge permit conditions affects all Californians—not just those within the coastal zone.

long adhered to by this court." *Id.* at 1053 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted).

In the land-use permitting context, certain conduct undertaken by the property owner will be deemed to constitute waiver of the right to challenge permit conditions. If a property owner accepts a permit's conditions, never challenges them pursuant to a timely and valid claim, and proceeds with the proposed project, she will be deemed by her conduct to have waived her right to challenge the permit conditions. See, e.g., Rossco Holdings, Inc. v. State, 212 Cal. App. 3d 642, 644-45 (1989); County of Imperial v. McDougal, 19 Cal. 3d 505, 510-11 (1977). These precedents are not an exception to the Court's well-established framework for analyzing waiver claims; to the contrary, they are an application of that framework: Where all the evidence points to the abandonment of the right to challenge a permit condition, it is reasonable to conclude that such evidence establishes an actual intention to waive that right. Trial courts still must evaluate a waiver claim by considering all the facts for and against waiver; and, importantly, Courts of Appeal must review a trial court's findings under the deferential "substantial evidence" review.

The majority opinion in this case jettisons this Court's framework for evaluating waiver claims, including the appropriate standard of review on appeal. Instead, the opinion mints a new rule for property owners challenging permit conditions. If a property owner wants to preserve her right to challenge a permit condition, it is not enough for her to reject the condition, exhaust her administrative remedies, and file a timely and appropriate claim challenging the condition. Satisfying all the legal prerequisites guarantees her nothing; she must overcome an additional, judge-made hurdle: Until her lawsuit is resolved, she must not take any of the permit's so-called "benefits" by proceeding with the proposed project; if she does, she will be deemed to have intentionally relinquished her right to challenge any aspect of the permit—no matter how unconstitutional or otherwise unlawful.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As the dissenting opinion points out, "[t]he right to use, enjoy and protect property is not a government privilege, but a fundamental, constitutional right." Dissenting Op. at 17; see also Cal. Const. art. I, § 1 (guaranteeing, in relevant part, the "inalienable" right of "protecting property, and pursuing and obtaining safety"). Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has made clear that "the right to build on one's own property—even though its exercise can be subjected to legitimate permitting requirements—cannot remotely be described as a 'governmental benefit.'" Nollan, 483 U.S. at 833.

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