In the Supreme Court of the State of California

BARBARA LYNCH and THOMAS FRICK,

Petitioners,

CALIFORNIA COASTAL COMMISSION,

Respondent.

Case No. S221980

SUPREME COURT

NOV 1 0 2014

Frank A. VioGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D064120
San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. 37-2011-00058666-CU-WM-NC
Earl H. Maas, III, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
JOHN A. SAURENMAN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
JAMEE JORDAN PATTERSON
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
HAYLEY PETERSON
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 179660
110 West A Street, Suite 1100
San Diego, CA 92101
P.O. Box 85266

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

The Coastal Act does not contain a provision that allows a permittee to accept the benefits of a permit and still challenge the permit conditions. In contrast, the Legislature enacted the Mitigation Fee Act to provide a procedure whereby a developer can pay fees or comply with conditions under protest under certain circumstances. In *Shapell Industries, Inc. v. Governing Board* (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 218, 241, the court explained:

Prior to the enactment of this statute, a developer could not challenge the validity of fees imposed on a residential development without refusing to pay them. (Pfeiffer v. City of La Mesa[, supra,] 69 Cal.App.3d 74, 78.) Since payment is a condition of obtaining the building permit, a challenge meant that the developer would be forced to abandon the project. The bill was drafted to correct this situation. It provided a procedure whereby a developer could pay the fees under protest, obtain the building permit, and proceed with the project while pursuing an action to challenge the fees.

But, as the Court of Appeal explained, the Mitigation Fee Act applies only to exactions imposed by local agencies that "divest the developer of money or a possessory interest in property." It does not apply to conditions imposed by state agencies or to conditions that restrict "the manner in which a developer may use its property." (Opinion, at p. 6, citing *Sterling Park, L.P. v. City of Palo Alto, supra,* 57 Cal.4th 1193, 1207.)

The cases Petitioners cite, Kadrmas v. Dickinson Public Schools (1988) 487 U.S. 450, 456-457 and 40 Retail Corp. v. City of Clarksville (Ark. 2012) 424 S.W.3d 823, 829, have no application here. Kadrmas involved a challenge to a North Dakota statute permitting some school districts to charge a user fee for bus transportation. The Court allowed the case to proceed even though the family had signed a bus contract and paid some of the fees. The Court found the fee was a burden, not a benefit, and in addition the suit was prospective as appellants were seeking relief from paying the balance still owing and to invalidate the requirement for their younger children not yet in school. (Id. at pp. 456-457.) Kadrmas is simply not relevant.

40 Retail Corp. v. City of Clarksville (Ark. 2012) 424 S.W.3d 823, 829 is consistent with the Court of Appeal's decision here. The City of Clarksville filed an action to enjoin continued operation of a nonconforming sexually oriented business. The City argued the store should be estopped from challenging a statute that phased out nonconforming uses after three years. The Arkansas court held the store was not estopped from pursuing its suit because the plaintiff was "not seeking to retain the benefits of legislation while at the same time seeking to rid itself of its burdens."

The Court of Appeal properly determined Petitioners waived their right to challenge the conditions because they accepted and complied with the conditions and proceeded with their project. Because the Court of

Appeal decision is consistent with long-standing precedent and raises no novel or important questions of law, the Commission urges this Court to deny the petition for review.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION REGARDING THE 20-YEAR AUTHORIZATION PERIOD IS CASE-SPECIFIC AND CONSISTENT WITH EXISTING PRECEDENT

Although the Court of Appeal's decision on waiver was sufficient to resolve this case, the majority went on to find the Commission acted within its statutory discretion in imposing certain conditions, including a 20-year durational limit on the seawall permit. Petitioners contend that, contrary to the Court of Appeal's decision, the Coastal Act only allows the Commission to impose conditions on seawalls that eliminate or mitigate adverse impacts on local shoreline sand supply. (Petition for Review, at p. 21.) They also argue that the Court of Appeal opinion gives permit agencies "near-limitless power to impose whatever conditions they wish" and therefore conflicts with the United States Supreme Court's unconstitutional-conditions jurisprudence. (Petition for Review, at pp. 22-23.) In fact, the majority's analysis of the Commission's jurisdiction is consistent with the statute and precedent, while its fact based conclusion the Commission acted within its discretion in this matter does not warrant review.

As the majority correctly recognized, "[t]he court's role in reviewing Commission decisions is to determine ' "whether (1) the [Commission] proceeded without, or in excess of, jurisdiction; (2) there was a fair hearing; and (3) the Commission abused its discretion."" (Opinion, at p. 10, quoting Ross v. California Coastal Com. (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 900, 921.) On the first issue, the court looked to the governing statute, specifically Public Resources Code section 30235, addressing issuance of coastal development permits.

The very case on which Petitioners rely, Ocean Harbor House Homeowners Assn. v. California Coastal Com. (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 215, 241 (Petition for Review, at p. 21), specifically rejected the statutory arguments Petitioners raise here. The Court of Appeal quoted at length from Ocean Harbor House and adopted that court's analysis:

As the [Ocean Harbor House] court explained, "The language of section 30235 is permissive, not exclusive. . . . The statute does not purport to preempt other sections of the Act that require the Commission to consider other factors in granting coastal development permits. . . . Nor does the statutory language purport to limit the Commission's duty to consider other impacts and discretion to impose conditions to mitigate them. Homeowners [offer] no legislative history to support [their] view of the statute. Moreover, had it been the Legislature's intent to limit permit conditions, one would reasonably have expected direct or express limiting language — e.g., seawalls shall be permitted, and the Commission may only impose conditions that mitigate sand loss; or seawalls shall be permitted, and the Commission may not impose any conditions other than those that mitigate sand loss.

(Opinion, at p. 14.) "In short, we conclude that section 30235 does not limit the type of conditions that the Commission may impose in granting a permit to construct a seawall. Rather the Commission has broad discretion to adopt measures designed to mitigate all significant impacts that the construction of the seawall may have." (Opinion, at p. 15, quoting *Ocean Harbor*, *supra*, 163 Cal.App.4th at pp. 241-242.)

The Commission further notes that Petitioners' current argument that the Court of Appeal decision is inconsistent with *Ocean Harbor House* conflicts with their earlier arguments. In the superior court, Petitioners argued *Ocean Harbor House* "was wrongly decided because it conflicts with the principle, clearly annunciated by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Nollan*, that the right to impose permit conditions derives from the right to deny the permit altogether." (JA at p. 190, lines 1-3.) In their petition for review,

Petitioners again take issue with *Ocean Harbor House*, arguing that "[i]f section 30235 permits only design-related conditions that eliminate or mitigate impacts caused by protective devices, then the *Ocean Harbor House* fee and the 20-year expiration condition here would be invalid under that provision." (Petition for Review, at p. 22, fn. 7.)

Petitioners' argument that the Court of Appeal's decision is a "groundbreaking opinion" that gives "permit agencies near-limitless power to impose whatever conditions they wish" is premised on their contention that the condition is unrelated to the seawall's impacts. (Petition for Review, at pp. 22, 23.) This argument fails because, as the Court of Appeal found, "the conditions are aimed at addressing the project's likely long-term impacts to adjacent, unprotected properties from accelerated erosion by ensuring that there is an opportunity to revisit the need for the seawall or require further mitigation for its impacts at the point in time it will likely require augmentation, replacement, or substantial change anyway."

(Opinion, at p. 15.)

"[T]he Commission imposed the condition limiting the permit's duration because it found: (1) the seawall is only required to protect [Petitioners'] existing homes and is not intended to be a permanent structure accommodating any future redevelopment of the homes; (2) the seawall will have long-term impacts on adjacent properties to the north and may have long-term impacts on other adjacent properties which are not yet fully addressable; [footnote omitted] (3) shoreline protection strategies are evolving, particularly in light of climate change and sea level rise; and (4) notwithstanding its theoretical lifespan, the seawall will likely need augmentation, replacement, or substantial changes within 20 years because of sea level rise and the seawall's location in a high hazard area." (Opinion, at p. 12.)

With respect to Petitioners' constitutional challenges, the Court of Appeal properly noted these arguments "presuppose[] a particular outcome when [Petitioners] apply to renew their seawall in the future." (Opinion, at p. 15.) "However, the outcome of any subsequent application is purely speculative and until the Commission reaches a final decision on the application any related takings claim is not ripe for adjudication." (Opinion, at pp. 15-16, citation omitted.)

Petitioners argue that the Commission imposed the condition in hopes that due to legislative or judicial changes, the Commission will be able to require removal of the seawall. (Petition for Review, at p. 3.) They and the dissent rely upon a single sentence in the Commission's findings, which states that the condition will ensure the project does not prejudice future shoreline planning options in light of changing and uncertain circumstances, including not only climate changes and sea level rise, but also due to legislative change, judicial determinations, etc. (AR 1709.) The condition itself does not mention legislative or judicial changes. It requires the Commission to consider "the opportunities to remove or modify the existing seawall in a manner that would eliminate or reduce the identified impacts, taking into consideration the requirements of the [local coastal program] and the protection required for the adjoining property that is also subject to this coastal development permit." (AR 1683.)

In addition, the Commission's decision is not subject to the heightened scrutiny under the *Nollan/Dolan* test. That test and line of cases only apply when a government entity requires the dedication of land or an interest in land and to ad hoc monetary exactions. (*Lingle v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc.* (2005) 544 U.S. 528, 546; *Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Management Dist.* (2013) 133 S.Ct. 2586; *Ehrlich v. City of Culver City* (1996) 12 Cal.4th 854, 881.) The 20-year authorization period does not take an interest in Petitioners' property or constitute an ad hoc monetary

exaction. Therefore, heightened scrutiny under *Nollan/Dolan* does not apply to the Commission's decision.

Even assuming the *Nollan/Dolan* test applied, the conditions easily satisfy the requirements. "It is beyond dispute that California has a legitimate interest in protecting and maintaining its beaches as recreational resources." (*Ocean Harbor House Homeowners Assn. v. California Coastal Com.*, supra, 163 Cal.App.4th at p. 231.) "[T]he Commission has broad discretion to adopt measures designed to mitigate all significant impacts that the construction of a seawall may have." (*Id.* at p. 242.) Given unavoidable uncertainty regarding the long-term need for the seawall and its long-term impacts, the 20-year condition helps to ensure that the Commission's required mitigation measures are proportionate responses to the project's actual impacts.

Because the Court of Appeal decision is consistent with existing precedent, review is not needed to secure uniformity of decision. Nor does this case raise an important question of law. The Court of Appeal applied the proper standard of review and determined substantial evidence in the record supported the Commission's decision to impose the 20-year authorization period. As the Court of Appeal noted, there may be other means of satisfactorily addressing the project's long-term impacts, but the court may not substitute its judgment from the Commission's. (Opinion, at p. 13.)

III. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION REGARDING THE STAIRWAY IS CONSISTENT WITH EXISTING PRECEDENT

The Court of Appeal held that Petitioners' proposed stairway reconstruction required a permit under the Coastal Act and the City's local coastal program. The Court's decision is consistent with the general principle to avoid preemption. (See, e.g., City of Riverside v. Inland Empire Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc. (2013) 56 Cal.4th 729,

737-738 ["The California Constitution recognizes the authority of cities and counties to make and enforce, within their borders, 'all local, police, sanitary, and other ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general laws.' (Cal. Const., art. XI, § 7.) This inherent local police power includes broad authority to determine, for purposes of the public health, safety, and welfare, the appropriate uses of land within a local jurisdiction's borders, and preemption by state law is not lightly presumed."])

Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with the decisions of this Court and other Courts of Appeal regarding preemption. But their contention is based on their flawed argument that the City's local coastal program disaster exemption conflicts with the Coastal Act's disaster exemption. In fact, the City's local coastal program, as Petitioners themselves admit (and the Court of Appeal found), "contains substantially the same language protecting the right of Encinitas residents to replace disaster-stricken structures without a permit" as the Coastal Act. (Petition for Review, at p. 25; Opinion, at p. 16.)

Coastal Act section 30610, subdivision (g)(1) does not contain a blanket exemption from permits for any structure destroyed by a disaster. The permit exception applies only if the replacement structure "shall conform to applicable existing zoning requirements" among other things. (Pub. Resources Code, § 30610, subd. (g)(1).) The equivalent provision in the Encinitas local coastal program provides that the permit exemption for structures destroyed by a disaster applies only if the proposed structure is "in conformance with all other provisions of the Municipal Code (i.e.[,] . . . not governed by the Coastal Bluff Overlay regulations of Chapter 30.34 of the Municipal Code)." (AR 868, Encinitas Municipal Code, § 30.80.050.)

The Encinitas local coastal program does not conflict with the Coastal Act; it simply inserts a reference to the specific applicable existing zoning

requirements by name, that is, the Coastal Bluff Overlay Zone regulations, rather than referring generally to applicable existing zoning requirements.

The Coastal Bluff Overlay regulations are part of the City's zoning code, and they prohibit private stairways down coastal bluffs. (AR 849 [Encinitas Municipal Code, § 30.34.020, subd. (B)(2)(a)-(c)].) Because replacement of the private stairway would be inconsistent with the City's applicable existing zoning requirements, they do not qualify for the disaster replacement exemption under the plain terms of the Coastal Act or the local coastal program.

The Coastal Bluff Overlay regulations are "existing zoning requirements." Petitioners describe zoning requirements as requirements governing "the structure's location and physical dimensions." (Petition for Review, at p. 25, fin. 10.) That is precisely what the Coastal Bluff Overlay regulations do. The Coastal Bluff Overlay regulations specify where development can be located and where it cannot, including private stairways on the City's bluffs. (AR 847-848, Encinitas Municipal Code, § 30.34.020.)

Because both the Encinitas' local coastal program and the Coastal Act required a permit for Petitioners' proposed reconstruction of the stairway, this case does not raise any preemption issues, and the Court of Appeal decision is consistent with the cases Petitioners cite.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission respectfully requests the Court deny the petition for review.